No. 71900-9-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

THE ESTATE OF CRAIG S. LUNDY, Respondent,

٧.

KELLY LUNDY, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY #14-4-00306-0

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BURI FUNSTON MUMFORD, PLLC

By PHILIP J. BURI WSBA #17637 1601 F Street Bellingham, WA 98225 (360) 752-1500

II.	STATEMENT OF FACTS			
	A.	Craig and Kelly Lundy Were Married for 25 Years		
	В.	Mr. And Ms. Lundy Did Not Change Their Beneficiaries For Four Years After The Divorce 7		
	C.	The Trial Court Awarded The Retirement Account To The Estate, Overriding Mr. Lundy's Choice Of Beneficiary		
ARGUMENT				
III.	STAI	NDARD OF REVIEW		
IV.	ERISA PREEMPTS THE ESTATE'S STATE LAW CLAIMS 12			
	A.	The United States Supreme Court Found Preemption Under A Similar Federal Benefit Program		
	B.	Although Not Argued Below, Ms. Lundy May Raise The Issue On Appeal		
V.	THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING MR. LUNDY'S			
	A.	The Trial Court Erred By Applying RCW 11.07.010		
	B.	Ms. Lundy Did Not Waive Her Ability To Be The Beneficiary		

C.	Complying With Mr. Lundy's Wishes Is Not			
	Unjust Enrichment	26		
CONCLUS	SION	27		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Supreme Court

<u>Harris v. State, Dep't of Labor & Indus.</u> , 120 Wn.2d 461, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993)				
<u>Humphrey Indus., Ltd. v. Clay St. Associates, LLC</u> , 176 Wn.2d 662, 295 P.3d 231 (2013)				
<u>In re Riemcke's Estate</u> , 80 Wn.2d 722, 497 P.2d 1319 (1972) 21				
Mike M. Johnston, Inc. v. Cnty. of Spokane, 150 Wn.2d 375, 78 P.3d 161 (2003)				
Washington State Court of Appeals				
Bentzen v. Demmons, 68 Wn. App. 339, 842 P.2d 1015 (1993)25				
<u>In re Estate of Bernard,</u> Wn. App, P.3d, No. 69608-4-I (Aug. 4, 2014)				
Norcon Builders, LLC v. GMP Homes VG, LLC, 161 Wn. App. 474, 254 P.3d 835 (2011)27				
<u>Petters v. Williamson & Associates, Inc.</u> , 151 Wn. App. 154, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009)				
Other Authorities				
29 U.S.C. § 1001(b)				
29 U.S.C. § 1002(8)				
29 U.S.C. § 1144(a)				
<u>Egelhoff v. Egelhoff,</u> 532 U.S. 141, 121 S.Ct. 1322, 149 L.Ed.2d 264 (2001)				

Feuer, Albert, 32 Tax Management Weekly Report 1040 (Aug. 5, 2013)
<u>Kennedy v. Plan Administrator</u> , 555 U.S. 285, 129 S.Ct. 865, 172 L.Ed.2d 662 (2009)
<u>Hillman v. Maretta</u> , U.S, 133 S.Ct. 1943, 186 L. Ed. 2d 43 (2013)
Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Parker, 436 F.3d 1109, 1113 (9th Cir. 2006)
(Section 20.111.1(D) of the Virginia Code)
Codes and Regulations
RAP 2.5(a)
RCW 5.60.03025
RCW 11.07.010
RCW 11.96A

INTRODUCTION

The Estate of Craig Lundy seeks to do in this lawsuit what Mr. Lundy never did while alive – change the beneficiary of his ERISA retirement account. Mr. Lundy worked as a machinist for the Boeing Company in Everett, and for 23 years, he participated in Boeing's Voluntary Investment Plan. He designated his wife, Kelly Lundy, as beneficiary. (11/27/91 Designation; Exhibit 7 to Estate's Petition; CP 87).

Mr. and Mrs. Lundy married in 1984, and for the duration of their 25-year marriage, both worked full-time and had their own retirement accounts. They did not have children. Over time, the couple grew apart, ending their marriage in September 2009. The Dissolution Decree awarded the spouses their respective retirement accounts as separate property. (Dissolution Decree ¶¶ 3.2 & 3.3; Exhibit 3 to Estate's Petition; CP 74-75).

Despite having complete control to change beneficiaries, neither Mr. Lundy nor Ms. Lundy did. The couple did not have an acrimonious divorce and neither remarried. As Ms. Lundy explained at the hearing, "We had acquired the majority of our funds during our 26-year marriage and just felt that that was something we wanted to continue." (4/2/14 VRP 15).

Mr. Lundy died on August 4, 2013 from complications from cancer. He did not leave a will. When his intestate successors – his three brothers and one sister – discovered Mr. Lundy had not changed his beneficiary, the Estate filed this action to recover the retirement account from Ms. Lundy. On April 4, 2014, Snohomish County Superior Court Judge Eric Lucas ruled for the Estate, concluding that state law required Ms. Lundy to return the proceeds after distribution and provide an accounting. (4/2/14 Order ¶¶ 1 and 2; CP 8) (attached as Appendix A).

Because overriding Mr. Lundy's valid choice of beneficiary violates both federal and state law, Ms. Lundy respectfully requests this Court to reverse the trial court's order, enforce Mr. Lundy's federal designation, and remand to the trial court.

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

The trial court erred as a matter of law by ordering Ms. Lundy to "immediately restore all funds she has received, and/or any funds received in the future, from the decedent's Boeing VIP Plan along with any income received thereupon to the Estate of Craig S. Lundy." (4/2/14 Order ¶ 1; CP 8). The trial court also erred by requiring Ms. Lundy to provide an accounting for all funds she received from the Boeing plan. (4/2/14 Order ¶ 2; CP 8).

Specific assignments of error are:

- A. Substantial evidence does not support the finding that "Craig rarely had any contact with Kelly Lundy following the dissolution." (4/2/14 Order at 2; CP 8).
- B. Paragraph 1 of the trial court's April 2, 2014 order is an error of law. (4/2/14 Order ¶ 1; CP 8).
- C. Paragraph 2 of the trial court's April 2, 2014 order in an error of law. (4/2/14 Order ¶ 2; CP 8).
- D. The federal Employee Retirement Income Security

 Act of 1974 (ERISA) preempts all claims under state law to nullify

 Mr. Lundy's designation of his beneficiary. 29 U.S.C. § 1144(a).

Issues pertaining to these assignments of error are:

E. Under RAP 2.5(a), this Court has "discretion to consider issues not raised at the trial court", including federal preemption. Harris v. State, Dep't of Labor & Indus., 120 Wn.2d 461, 468, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993). Here, examining federal preemption under ERISA is "necessary to reach a proper decision." Humphrey Indus., Ltd. v. Clay St. Associates, LLC, 176 Wn.2d 662, 671, 295 P.3d 231 (2013). Should this Court review whether ERISA preempts the Estate's state law claims?

F. "An employee's ability to name a beneficiary acts as a guarantee of the complete and full performance of the contract to the exclusion of conflicting claims." Hillman v. Maretta, 133 S. Ct. 1943, 1953, 186 L. Ed. 2d 43 (2013) (interpreting the Federal Employees' Group Life Insurance Act of 1954). State law claims to recoup benefits after distribution "frustrate the deliberate purpose of Congress to ensure that a federal employee's named beneficiary receives the proceeds." Hillman, 133 S. Ct. at 1952. Like FEGLIA, does ERISA preempt state law claims that deprive a named beneficiary of retirement funds?

G. "A court's paramount duty in construing a testamentary instrument is to give effect to the maker's intent." In re Estate of Bernard, __ Wn. App. __, __ P.3d __, No. 69608-4-I (Aug. 4, 2014). Craig Lundy died intestate, and his sole testamentary act was to name Kelly Lundy as the beneficiary to his Boeing retirement account. Did the trial court err by reversing Mr. Lundy's choice and ordering Ms. Lundy to return the retirement proceeds to the Estate?

II. STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. <u>Craig and Kelly Lundy Were Married for 25 Years</u>

Craig and Kelly Lundy married on January 26, 1984 in Fort Collins, Colorado. (Dissolution Petition ¶ 1.5, Exhibit 1 to Estate's Petition; CP 63). The couple lived and worked near Bellingham from then on – Mr. Lundy as a machinist at Boeing in Everett and Ms. Lundy as an Information Technology professional for PeaceHealth. (Kelly Lundy Dec. ¶ 1; CP 29). Both had retirement accounts with their respective employers and named each other as beneficiaries. (Kelly Lundy Dec. ¶ 9; CP 31). Mr. Lundy had a Voluntary Investment Plan with the Boeing Company, contributing to it during and after his marriage. (Letter from Boeing Savings Beneficiary Services at 1; Exhibit 5 to Estate's Petition; CP 81).

Over time, their marriage deteriorated. As Ms. Lundy described in her declaration, their separation and divorce was disheartening, but not acrimonious.

I was married to Craig Lundy for 25 years, until we finalized our dissolution in September 2009. We dissolved our marriage by mutual agreement in the simplest way that we could. However, despite the fact that we were not married, we kept in close contact continuously until his death; we remained friends and cared deeply for each other. Both of us remained unmarried.

(Kelly Lundy Dec. ¶ 2; CP 29). Mr. Lundy's siblings confirmed that Ms. Lundy and he remained in contact after the divorce, but disputed whether they remained close. (Michael Lundy Dec. at 2; CP 19) ("despite the divorce, Kelly continued to be invited to family events"); (Staiger Supp. Dec. at 2; CP 11) ("Craig and Kelly were not in contact on a regular basis following the divorce; this was mentioned to me not only by Craig but also by Kelly").

Because the couple did not have children, Mr. Lundy and Ms. Lundy's dissolution was straightforward. They listed all their assets as community property, including "retirement funds in each party's name". (Findings of Fact ¶ 2.8(25); Exhibit 2 to Estate's Petition; CP 68). Neither had separate property. (Findings of Fact ¶ 2.9; CP 68).

The dissolution decree simply awarded the spouses their respective retirement funds as separate property. (Dissolution Decree ¶¶ 3.2 & 3.3; Exhibit 3 to Estate's Petition; CP 74-75) ("all retirement funds and 401Ks in his [her] name"). Neither the decree nor the findings and conclusions had a clause waiving all interest in the ex-spouse's retirement funds. The parties also did not propose or request a Qualified Domestic Relations Order (QDRO) under ERISA that creates a continuing interest in an ex-spouse's plan.

At the end of their marriage, Mr. and Ms. Lundy left as equals. Both had complete control over their finances, and, significant here, both could name new beneficiaries.

B. Mr. and Ms. Lundy Did Not Change Their Beneficiaries For Four Years After the Divorce

Despite having the ability, neither Mr. Lundy nor Ms. Lundy changed beneficiaries for four years after their divorce. Ms. Lundy explained why at the TEDRA hearing:

- Q. Are you surprised, or did you expect that Craig would name you as his beneficiary on his retirement account?
- A. I was not surprised. That is something that we had discussed after our divorce, that we felt that we wanted to continue that arrangement. We did not have children. We had acquired the majority of our funds during our 26-year marriage and just felt that that was something we wanted to continue.

(4/2/14 VRP 14-15).

Mr. Lundy had ample warning, and opportunity, to change his beneficiary if he wanted. First, Boeing periodically reminded its Plan participants to review who they designated as beneficiaries.

Because of the large number of marriages, dissolutions, deaths, new children and other reasons for beneficiary changes, employees are *periodically reminded* in various ways to update their beneficiaries.

(Letter from Boeing Savings Beneficiary Services at 1; CP 81) (emphasis added). Second, Boeing's Summary Plan Description, sent to all employees, reminded them to change beneficiaries after a divorce.

The Plan recognizes beneficiary designations and changes only when they are completed and received before your death. You may not designate or change a beneficiary by using other documents (such as divorce decrees, prenuptial agreements, wills or trusts).

(Letter from Boeing Savings at 1; CP 81).

Third, changing the beneficiary was easy. Boeing's 2006 Plan Summary states:

You can designate or change your beneficiary on line by accessing the Beneficiary Information link under the Personal Information section of Boeing Savings Plans Online. Your beneficiary will take effect once the confirmation number is generated; however, it will not be displayed for one to two business days.

(2006 Summary Plan Description at 10; Exhibit 6 to Estate's Petition; CP 85). The Summary then advises "if you are not married, you can name anyone as your beneficiary, and you can change your beneficiary at any time." (2006 Summary at 10; CP 85).

Fourth, Mr. Lundy's annual statements from Boeing identified Ms. Lundy as his beneficiary. (Boeing VIP Statement at 4; Exhibit 8 to Estate's Petition; CP 92).

Fifth, both Ms. Lundy and Mr. Lundy's siblings agreed that Craig knew his finances. Ms. Lundy declared,

Craig was the kind of person who knew what he intended, and who did what he intended. He was a skilled machinist and a competent, private, and structured person. He was aware of his choices and behaved accordingly.

(Kelly Lundy Dec. ¶ 8; CP 31). Mr. Lundy's sister Kathleen, described her brother's pride in purchasing a mobile home and investing for his retirement.

After their divorce, Craig returned to Marysville, to be near family and friends. He was finally happy and very proud of the mobile home he had purchased. He lived a modest life and had aggressively invested in his VIP account to help bolster his retirement income. In the few years after his divorce, he was able to almost double his VIP investment.

(Staiger Dec. at 2; CP 11).

The Estate had no evidence that Mr. Lundy intended, but somehow failed, to change his beneficiary. Instead, the four siblings who stand to inherit the proceeds stated their brother did not mean to leave the retirement fund to Ms. Lundy. (Staiger Dec. at 1; CP 10) ("I believe my brother Craig had no intention of leaving

his VIP to his ex-wife Kelly"); (Michael Lundy Dec. at 3; CP 20) ("I am sure that Craig did not intend his Boeing VIP plan to pass to Kelly"); (Robert Lundy Dec. at 2; CP 14) ("I am most certain that Craig's intent was to have all his assets remain with his estate").

The Estate also presented no evidence of who Mr. Lundy intended to name as beneficiary, other than Ms. Lundy.

On August 4, 2013, Mr. Lundy died of complications from cancer. (Kelly Lundy Dec. ¶ 7; CP 30-31). He died intestate, leaving his four siblings as heirs under Washington rules of intestate succession. (Order Appointing Administrator; Exhibit 9 to Estate's Petition; CP 96-97).

C. The Trial Court Awarded The Retirement Account To The Estate, Overriding Mr. Lundy's Choice of Beneficiary

On March 2, 2014, the Estate of Craig Lundy sued Ms. Lundy under the Trust and Estate Dispute Resolution Act (TEDRA), RCW Ch. 11.96A, seeking recovery of the retirement funds. Ms. Lundy responded, and on April 2, 2014, Snohomish County Superior Court Judge Eric Lucas decided the case at the initial hearing. (4/2/14 VRP). The court heard testimony from one witness – Kelly Lundy. At the close of the hearing, Judge Lucas gave this oral ruling:

So I took a bit of a break there to take a closer look at RCW 11.07.010. And after reviewing that I agree with Petitioner that this applies to non-probate assets wherever situated held at the time of the entry of Decree of Dissolution of marriage. And the operative language of the statute says that a non-probate asset in favor of, or granting an interest or power to the decedent's former spouse support state registered partner is revoked. So I will sign that order.

(4/2/14 VRP 36). The court entered a written order that same day. (4/2/14 Order; CP 6-8).

Ms. Lundy now appeals.

ARGUMENT

III. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This court reviews the trial court's findings of facts for substantial evidence in the record and its conclusions of law *de novo*.

Where the trial court has weighed the evidence our review is limited to determining whether the findings are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether the findings in turn support the trial court's conclusions of law.... Substantial evidence is evidence in sufficient quantum to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise. We review the trial court's conclusions of law de novo to see if they are supported by the trial court's findings of fact.

Petters v. Williamson & Associates, Inc., 151 Wn. App. 154, 163-64, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009) (citations omitted).

The Court reviews the interpretation of a trust or will document de novo.

We review de novo the interpretation of a will or trust instrument. Where the meaning of an instrument evidencing a trust is unambiguous, the instrument is not one requiring judicial construction or interpretation.

Estate of Bernard, __ Wn. App. __, __ P.3d __ No. 69608-4-I, slip op. at __ (Aug. 4, 2014); Metro. Life Ins. Co. v. Parker, 436 F.3d 1109, 1113 (9th Cir. 2006) ("we also review de novo the district court's interpretation of an ERISA insurance policy's language").

IV. ERISA PREEMPTS THE ESTATE'S STATE LAW CLAIMS

The trial court premised its oral ruling on RCW 11.07.010, a statute that automatically revokes a husband's or wife's designation of beneficiary when the couple divorces. In Egelhoff v. Egelhoff, 532 U.S. 141, 121 S.Ct. 1322, 149 L.Ed.2d 264 (2001), the United State Supreme Court held that ERISA preempted this automatic revocation.

The statute binds ERISA plan administrators to a particular choice of rules for determining beneficiary status. The administrators must pay benefits to the beneficiaries chosen by state law, rather than to those identified in the plan documents. The statute thus implicates an area of core ERISA concern. In particular, it runs counter to ERISA's commands that a plan shall "specify the basis on which payments are made to and from the plan," § 1102(b)(4), and that the

fiduciary shall administer the plan "in accordance with the documents and instruments governing the plan," § 1104(a)(1)(D), making payments to a "beneficiary" who is "designated by a participant, or by the terms of [the] plan." § 1002(8).

Egelhoff, 532 U.S. at 147, 121 S. Ct. at 1327-28. The statute now covers employee benefit plans "unless provided otherwise by controlling federal law." RCW 11.07.010(5)(a)(i).

Despite this express preemption, the Estate argued that state law, including RCW 11.07.010, could apply to recover ERISA funds after the plan administrator distributed them. (Estate's Petition at 11) ("this court should find that once an ERISA asset is distributed an estate has standing to bring suit against an exspouse who was not awarded that asset in the divorce decree under state law theory"). The Estate cited a footnote in a later Supreme Court case, Kennedy v. Plan Administrator, 555 U.S. 285, 299 n.10, 129 S.Ct. 865, 875 n.10, 172 L.Ed.2d 662 (2009), and lower court decisions that suggested state law claims could apply after distribution.

But a 2013 decision from the United States Supreme Court again establishes that federal law controls all aspects of designating a beneficiary, whether before or after distribution. State law cannot frustrate a federal choice of beneficiary.

A. <u>The United States Supreme Court Found Preemption</u> <u>Under A Similar Federal Benefit Program</u>

Federal law protects more than a participant's designation of a beneficiary. It protects the beneficiary's right to receive and use the funds. In <u>Hillman v. Maretta</u>, __ U.S. __, 133 S.Ct. 1943, 186 L.Ed.2d 43 (2013), the United States Supreme Court preempted state law claims that override a valid federal designation of beneficiary.

[W]here a beneficiary has been duly named, the insurance proceeds she is owed under [Federal Employees' Group Life Insurance] cannot be allocated to another person by operation of state law.

<u>Hillman</u>, 133 S.Ct at 1953. Federal law protects the beneficiary from claims, like those here, that the deceased intended someone else to receive the funds.

Rather than draw an inference about an employee's probable intent from a range of sources, Congress established a clear and predictable procedure for an employee to indicate who the intended beneficiary of his life insurance shall be.

Hillman, 133 S.Ct. at 1952.

Warren Hillman was a federal employee who in 1996 married Judy Maretta. He named his new wife as the beneficiary of his life insurance policy under the Federal Employees' Group Life

Insurance program. Two years later, the couple divorced. <u>Hillman</u>, 133 S.Ct. at 1949.

Hillman remarried in 2002, but failed to change his beneficiary. He died unexpectedly in 2008 and Ms. Maretta and Mrs. Hillman both claimed the insurance proceeds. Under a Virginia statute, a divorce or annulment "revokes a beneficiary designation contained in a then existing written contract owned by one party that provides for the payment of any death benefit to the other party." Hillman, 133 S.Ct. at 1948 (quoting Section 20-111.1(A) of the Virginia Code).

The statute had a special provision if federal law prevented Section 20-111.1(A) from automatically changing the beneficiary.

If [Va.Code Ann. § 20–111.1] is preempted by federal law with respect to the payment of any death benefit, a former spouse who, not for value, receives the payment of any death benefit that the former spouse is not entitled to under [§ 20–111.1] is personally liable for the amount of the payment to the person who would have been entitled to it were [§ 20.111.1] not preempted.

(Section 20.111.1(D) of the Virginia Code). In other words,

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