No. 71900-9-1

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION ONE

THE ESTATE OF CRAIG S. LUNDY, Respondent,

v.

KELLY LUNDY, Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR SNOHOMISH COUNTY #14-4-00306-0

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

HANSEN McCONNELL & PELLEGRINI

By: PERRY W. McCONNELL

WSBA #40688 1636 Third Street Marysville, WA 98270

(360) 658-6580

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

C. Craig And Kelly Were Rarely In Contact After Their Divorce.

Based on the evidence provided to the court, the trial court found that Craig rarely had any contact with Kelly Lundy following the dissolution. (Order at 2; CP 3). They never reconciled or cohabited post-dissolution. *Id.* This was supported by the testimony of Craig's sister, Kathleen. (Staiger Dec. at 1-2; CP 40-41). This is corroborated by the Appellant's sworn testimony in which she testified that she never visited Craig's home following the divorce. (4/2/14 VRP 5). Other than house

sitting and watching her cats while his ex-wife was away, there were only one or two occasions following their divorce that Craig went over to her home to help with "things around the house." *Id.* at 4-5. This was not a close relationship, but a divorced couple who had parted ways based on no shared interest. Appellant called no witnesses. The Respondent, however, called Kelly to testify and the court had opportunity to asses her credibility. This court should not upset a finding of fact based as it was on substantial sworn testimony.

D. The Trial Court Awarded Craig's Retirement Account To His Estate In Accordance With Craig And Kelly's Agreement In The Divorce Decree.

The trial court awarded Craig's Boeing VIP Account to his estate. (Order at 2; CP 3). The court issued its ruling based on the issues and evidence before it and argument presented, namely that the effect of the divorce decree waived Ms. Lundy's future beneficiary interest and that no agreement to the contrary was entered into post-dissolution as there was no admissible evidence supporting this claim. The Respondent objected both in writing and then at the court proceeding to evidence regarding Ms. Lundy's alleged post-divorce conversations with the decedent regarding his Boeing VIP Plan. (Plaintiff's Reply at 2; CP 22; 4/2/14 VRP 21 – 22, 32-33).

E. The Trial Court Did Not Address The Issue Of Federal
Preemption Because The Appellant Conceded The Point At
Trial.

In Part IV of the Appellant's Brief, she argues that the trial court erred by failing to apply federal preemption to the Respondent's state law claims. The Appellant admits that this issue was "not argued below".

(Brief of Appellant at 18). Not only did the Appellant fail to raise this issue at the trial court level, but the Appellant's lawyer affirmatively told the trial court that he agreed with Respondent that her claim was not preempted by federal law:

And the courts have said, and I (Appellant) agree with the plaintiff (Respondent in the present action), the courts have consistently said federal law doesn't pre-empt, doesn't preclude the bringing of a state court action. (4/2/14 VRP 28, Emphasis Added).

The Appellant's counsel followed this statement by arguing that the Respondent's state law claim should not prevail on <u>state</u> law grounds and then concluded that, "The plaintiff (Respondent) has established that she has the right to bring the case, but not the right to win the case." (*Id.* at 30). In context, counsel's reference to the right to "bring the case" was another admission that federal law did not preempt or bar the claim. Shortly thereafter, the attorney for the Appellant again reiterated this point

and told the court, "Your honor, the plaintiff can bring a case, but they've established no right to ownership of the account." *Id.* at 31.

The Appellant has been aware of the preemption issue since the Respondent filed her initial Petition at the trial court level. The Respondent devoted nearly half her opening brief at the trial court level to advancing her position that federal law did not preempt the state court action. (See Estate's Petition at 5-11; CP 49-55).

The Appellant chose to concede this issue based upon her reading of the case law and instead to fight the Respondent's claim on other grounds, primarily the issue of intent. (4/2/14 VRP 28, 30, 31). Thus, the trial court did not need to rule on it. The Appellant apparently now regrets that decision and attempts to inject the preemption issue defensively for the first time on appeal and should be estopped from doing so. The only new authority that the Appellant cites in support of her position was published nearly a year prior to the trial court proceeding. See Hillman, 133 S.Ct. 1943. Not only was Hillman available to the Appellant before the trial, but that case does not address ERISA as it is solely focused on the Federal Employees' Group Life Insurance Act (Hereinafter "FEGLIA"). Respondent concludes that Appellant's trial counsel did not advance that case below having determined, as has Respondent, that it is inapposite.

In response to the Appellant's waiver of this issue, the Respondent declined to advance the argument and facts further at the trial court on this issue. After the Appellant conceded this issue, Respondent's counsel addressed the trial court regarding federal preemption and said, "It appears that the defendant, through his presentation, agrees that state law does apply ... so I won't spend much time on that." (4/2/14 VRP 37). As can be seen in the report of proceedings, little to no time was spent by the Respondent further advancing this position, as it had been conceded. The Respondent brought a separate motion to dismiss this claim of error with this court and Commissioner Mary Neel denied the motion without prejudice to be addressed in respondent's brief. (10/27/14 Notation Ruling).

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

Issues of law are determined de novo. *Peters v. Williamson & Associates, Inc.*, 151 Wn. App. 154, 163-164, 210 P.3d 1048 (2009). The trial court's findings of fact in nonjury cases will not be overturned if they are supported by substantial evidence. *Thorndike v. Hesperian Orchards, Inc.*, 54 Wn.2d 570, 343 P.2d 183 (1959). "Substantial evidence" does not mean uncontradicted evidence, but rather that character of evidence which would convince an unprejudiced thinking

mind of the truth of the fact to which the evidence is directed. *Arnold v. Sanstol*, 43 Wn.2d 94, 98, 260 P.2d 327 (1953). An appellate court will not ordinarily substitute its judgment for that of the trial court even though it might have resolved the factual dispute differently. *Beeson v. Arco*, 88 Wn.2d 499, 563 P.2d 822 (1977). The trial court is generally free to believe or disbelieve a witness in reaching factual determinations. *State v. Chapman*, 78 Wn.2d 160, 469 P.2d 883 (1970).

B. Federal preemption is not properly before the court and the issue should be dismissed on motion.

The issue presented to this court is whether, on Respondent's motion, the Appellate Court should refuse to review Appellant's primary claim of error that was not properly raised at the trial court level: ERISA Preempts the Estate's State Law Claim. RAP 2.5(a) provides the applicable standard:

The appellate court may refuse to review any claim of error which was not raised in the trial court. However, a party may raise the following claimed errors for the first time in the appellate court: (1) lack of trial court jurisdiction, (2) failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted, and (3) manifest error affecting a constitutional right.

RAP 2.5(a)

To clarify this standard, the Washington State Supreme Court has held on several occasions that the court "will not" consider an issue raised for the first time on appeal that fails to fall into one of these three enumerated exceptions. *State v. Scott*, 110 Wn.2d 682, 684, 757 P.2d 492 (1988); *Herberg v. Swartz*, 89 Wn.2d 916, 925, 578 P.2d 17 (1978); *Boeing v. State*, 89 Wn.2d 443, 450-451, 572 P.2d 8 (1978). The primary policy reason for RAP 2.5(a) is judicial economy and to promote the efficient use of judicial resources. *Smith v. Shannon*, 100 Wn.2d 26, 37, 666 P.2d 351 (1983). A secondary reason is fairness to the opposing parties who should be able to respond to and face the relevant issues and theories at the trial level rather than at the appellate level for the first time. *See*, Lewis H. Orland & Karl B. Tegland, 2 Washington Practice 483 (4th ed. 1991).

The only exception that the Appellant claims would apply is RAP 2.5(a)(2), "Failure to establish facts upon which relief can be granted." (See Brief of Appellant at 19). The cases which reference RAP 2.5(a)(2) deal specifically with the sufficiency of the factual record below, and the appellate court makes a determination as to whether the trial court had adequate facts upon which to support its decision. E.g. Gross v. Lynwood, 90 Wn.2d 395, 583 P.2d 1197 (1978). In Gross, the court reviewed whether the plaintiff at the trial court level had properly established sufficient facts to support the trial court's decision that he fit within a protected class. Id. at 400. The court cases do not support a two-step approach of injecting a wholly new or previously conceded legal issue before the appellate court and then arguing that this renders the factual

record inadequate to address it. Simply put, the trial court did not have to rule on the preemption issue, so no factual proof was required.

Here, the Appellant is making an argument that has no grounding in either the rule or case law. Instead of challenging the factual record as allowed by RAP 2.5(a)(2), she is seeking to use the rule to inject a new legal issue, federal preemption. This is not the purpose of the rule. If the record below is inadequate regarding federal preemption, it is because the Appellant waived the defense.¹

Despite the strong language in several Washington State Supreme Court decisions that there are no exceptions other than those listed in 2.5(a), the Court has carved out several narrow common law exceptions to be applied in exceptional circumstances, such as *Harris* which was referenced in the Appellant's brief. *Harris v. State, Dep't of Labor and Indus.*, 120 Wn.2d 461, 843 P.2d 1056 (1993). However, the court has likewise found that a party is **barred** from asserting both common law and statutory exceptions in several circumstances, including invited error, tactical waiver, and preclusion of inconsistent positions. First, "a party cannot seek review of an alleged error that the party invited." *Davis v. Globe Mach. Mfg. Co.*, 102 Wn.2d 68, 77, 684 P.2d 692 (1984). This

¹ That said, what other facts were necessary? The parties divorced and were awarded their respective retirement accounts. Craig's was ERISA governed. He neither revoked nor reaffirmed his beneficiary designation and he died.

doctrine has been found to apply even when one of the express exceptions to RAP 2.5(a) is affected. *See State v. Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d 867, 870-871, 792 P.2d 514 (1990). Second, if a party has consciously refrained for tactical reasons from claiming an error at trial, then the claim is barred on appeal. *See, State v. Donohoe*, 39 Wn.App. 778, 781-782, 695 P.2d 150, *cert. denied*, 103 Wn.2d 1032 (1984). Finally, a party is not permitted to maintain inconsistent positions in judicial proceedings. *See e.g.*, *Zimmerman v. Kyte*, 53 Wn. App. 11, 14, 765 P.2d 905 (1988).

1) INVITED ERROR

The doctrine of invited error applies when a party, by their own actions, creates the basis for the appeal. *Henderson*, 114 Wn.2d at 867. In *Henderson*, the appealing party submitted jury instructions to the trial court. *Id.* at 868. On appeal, the appellant argued that her own jury instructions were unconstitutional. *Id.* The appellate court found that, because the appellant had instructed the trial court on how to proceed, that they could not change their mind on appeal and argue the opposite position. *Id.* at 870-871.

In application to our facts, the case law supports that the Appellant is barred from asserting an exception to the general rule of 2.5(a) based upon the theory of invited error. Our facts are similar to those in

Henderson. Appellant's counsel here instructed the trial court three times that federal preemption does not apply to this claim:

And the courts have said, and I (Appellant) agree with the plaintiff (Respondent in the present action), the courts have consistently said federal law doesn't pre-empt, doesn't preclude the bringing of a state court action. (4/2/14 VRP 28, Emphasis Added).

The Appellant's counsel is now claiming that the trial court was in error for hearing the state claim that he advised the court to rule on. If there is error, the Appellant invited it and is now barred from asserting it.

2) TACTICAL WAIVER

Tactical waiver is applicable when it can be shown that a party has consciously refrained, for tactical reasons, from claiming error in the trial court. *Donohoe*, 39 Wn.App. at 781-82. In *Donohoe*, the Defendant admitted to the appellate court that during the trial he consciously refrained from arguing that the evidence was improperly admitted. *Id.* This tactical decision was made in order to devote counsel's argument to other issues before the court. *Id.* The court stated that the "Defendant must accept the consequences of this affirmative choice," and refused to review the waived issue. *Id.*

Our record supports a tactical waiver because the Appellant made the decision to waive her argument of federal preemption at the trial court level, and to focus her defense on other arguments. The court should rule the same way that the court did in *Donohoe* and find that the Appellant must "accept the consequences of his affirmative choice." *Donohoe*, 39 Wn.App. at 781-82. The similar doctrine of judicial estoppel would also apply based upon the Appellant's tactical waiver. *New Hampshire v. Main*, 532 U.S. 742, 121 S.Ct. 1808, 149 L. Ed. 2d 968 (2001).

3) PRECLUSION OF INCONSISTENT POSITION

The closely related doctrine of preclusion of an inconsistent position is summarized in *Mueller*. *Mueller* v. *Garske*, 1 Wn. App. 406, 461 P.2d 886 (1969). "A party is not permitted to maintain inconsistent positions in judicial proceedings. It is not as strictly a question of estoppel as it is a rule of procedure based on manifest justice and on a consideration of orderliness, regularity and expedition in litigation." *Id.* at 409. In *Mueller*, the plaintiff obtained a default judgment against the defendant. *Id.* at 408. He then appealed the terms of the default judgment and the court found that this was an inconsistent position to what he previously submitted to the court and denied the appeal. *Id.* at 417.

Under our facts, as discussed previously, the Appellant has been of two minds when presenting her argument to the trial court and now to the appellate court. At the trial court, she conceded that the state law claim was not preempted by federal law and she now contends that it is preempted. Similar to that the facts in *Mueller*, the Appellant is now

asking the court to do something directly contrary to her prior position.

Mueller, 1 Wn. App. 406. As in Mueller, it would similarly cause manifest injustice to allow the Appellant to argue the opposite position at the appellate level when she had every opportunity to advance this argument at the trial court level and expressly waived the issue. It is disorderly, irregular, and a waste of judicial resources.

4) LACK OF COMPELLING REASON ON APPEAL

On occasion, the Court on appeal allows a new issue to be initiated when "fundamental justice so requires." *State v. Card*, 48 Wn. App. 781, 784, 741 P.2d 65 (1987). In *Card*, the court was faced with a new issue on appeal. *Id*. at 781. The issue was whether the police followed the proper procedure when they returned seized property to a convicted criminal. *Id*. at 782. The court found that manifest injustice could occur if a criminal was improperly returned property he had stolen and reviewed this new issue. *Id*. at 339.

A case advanced by the Appellant that falls into this general category is *Harris*. *See Harris*, 120 Wn.2d 461. Although the court in *Harris* does not expressly state that there must be manifest injustice in order to hear a new issue for the first time on appeal, it did provide a compelling reason to review the new issue. *Id.* In *Harris*, an amicus brief in support of the Appellant's position on appeal argued that federal law

preempted the state law at issue which had to do with benefits under the Department of Labor and Industries. *Id.* at 464. The court stated, "Generally the court does not consider an issue that was not raised at the trial court." *Id.* at 468. The Court made the decision to review this issue expressly because there were "numerous similar cases ... currently pending that challenge the validity of RCW 51.32.225." *Id.* (Emphasis supplied). In other words, the issue was before the court in multiple cases and appellate guidance was required.

In application, there is no manifest injustice or compelling reason under the facts before this court. This is not like *Card* in which a criminal could profit from an error made by the police if the appellate court refuses to hear this new issue. Instead, the declared public policy of this state denying benefits to a divorced surviving spouse would be followed. *See* RCW 11.07.010.

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